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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,
Plaintiff,

V. Civil Action No. 04-0798 (PLF)
ALL ASSETS HELD ATBANK JULIUS,
Baer & Company, Ltd., Guernsey
Branch, account number 121128, in the )
Name of Pavlo Lazarenko &t, )

)

)

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Defendantdn Rem

OPINION
This matter is before the Cauwon the motiorjDkt. No. 97Q of the United States
for clarification orpartial reconsideration of th€ourt’s ginion of April 27, 2017, granting in
part and denying in pattie moton of claimant Pavel Lazarenkar partial judgment on the

pleadings.SeeUnited States v. All Assets Held at Bank Julius Baer & Co., Ltd., 251 F. Supp. 3d

82 (D.D.C. 2017). Upon careful consideration of the pantiegten submissionghe relevant

legal authoritiesandthe entire record in this cagbe Courtwill grantthe motion?

! The Court has reviewed the following documents in resolving the pending

motion, including the exhibits attached thereto: Amended Complaint (“Am. Compl.”) INDkt
20]; Mr. Lazarenko’s Motion to Dismiss the First Amended Complaint (“Mot. to BsN[Dkt.
No. 27]; United States’ Opposition to Motion to Dismiss (“Opp’n to Mot. to DismissKj.[No.
35]; Mr. Lazarenko’s Reply in Support of his Motion to Dismiss (“Reply to Mot. to Dsinis
[Dkt. No. 42]; Order Denying Motion to Dismiss [Dkt. No. 68]r. Lazarenko’s Verified
Answer tothe Amended Complaint (“Answer”) [Dkt. No. 268]; Mr. Lazarenko’s Motion for
Partial Judgment on the Pleadings and Partial Summary Judgment (“Mot. far Pam the
Pleadings”) [Dkt. No. 539] and Memorandum of Law in Support (“Mot. for Partial J. on the
Pleadings Mem.”) [Dkt. No. 539-2]; United States’ Opposition to Motion for Partial Jeilgm
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I. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND
The Court’s prior opinions summarize thectual andorocedural history of this
case, starting with the criminal prosecutiorvbt Lazarenko and continuing through this

long-runningin remcivil forfeiture proceedingSee e.qg, United States v. All Assets Held at

Bank Julius Baer & Co., Ltd., 307 F.R.D. 249, 250-51 (D.D.C. 2Q14ixed States v. All Assets

Held at Bank Julius Baer & Co., Ltd., 959 F. Supp. 2d 81, 84-94 (D.D.C. 2013); United States v.

All AssetsHeld at Bank Julius Baer & Co., Ltd., 772 F. Supp. 2d 205, 207-08 (D.D.C. 2011);

United States v. All Assets Held at Bank Julius Baer & Co., Ltd., 571 F. Supp. 2d 1, 3-6 (D.D.C.

2008). In briefMr. Lazarenko was prominent Ukrainian politician who, witheaid of
various associates, waabie to acquire hundreds of millions of United States dollars through a
variety of acts of fraud, extortion, bribery, misappropriation and/or embezzleowenthitted

during the 1990sUnited States v. All Assets Heldl Bank Julius Baer & Co., Ltd., 959 F. Supp.

2d at 85 (quoting Am. Compl. 11 1, 10).

on the Pleadings and Partial Summary Judgment (“Opp’n to Mot. for Partial J. on the
Pleadings”) [Dkt. No. 599]; Mr. Lazarenko’s Reply in Support of his Motion for Partial
Judgment on the Pleadings and Partial Summary Judgment (“Reply to Mot. for Ramidhe
Pleadings”) [Dkt. No. 668]; Mr. Lazarenko’s Supplemental Brief (“Lazarenko Supp).[BKt.
No. 741]; United States’ Response to Supplemental Brief (“United States Supp[DBt.”INo.
823]; Mr. Lazarenko’s Reply in Support of his Supplemental Brief (“Lazarenko Replypid.S
Br.”) [Dkt. No. 841]; Order Requesting Status Report (Jan. 26, 2017) [Dkt. No. 870]; Mr.
Lazarenko’s Status Report (“Lazarenko Status Report”) [Dkt. No. 875]; UnitezsSEtatus
Report (“United States Status Report”) [Dkt. No. 885]; January 25, 2017 Motions Hearing
Transcript (“January 25, 2017 Hr'g Tr.”) [Dkt. No. 88&eply to United States’ StaturReport
(“Lazarenko Reply Status Report”) [Dkt. No. 890]; January 4, 2007 Motions Hearing:flipans
(“January 4, 2007 Hr'g Tr.”) [Dkt. No. 9270rderGranting in Part and Denying in Part Motion
for Partial Judgment on the Pleadings [Dkt. No. 94Biited States’ Motion for Clarification or
Partial Reconsideration of the Court’s April 27, 2017 Opinion (“Mot. for Recons.”) [Dkt. No.
970] and Memorandum of Law in Support (“Mot. for Recons. Mem.”) [Dkt. No. 970-1]; Mr.
Lazarenko’s Opposition to Motion for Clarification or Partial ReconsideratOpgn to Mot.

for Recons.”) [Dkt. No. 972]; and United States’ Reply in Support of its Motion for Chrdic
or Partial Reconsideration (“Reply to Mot. for Recons.”) [Dkt. No. 977].



A. Overview of Claimand Alleged Criminal Schemes

TheUnited States alleges thlr. Lazarenko and his associates amassed the
assetsubject to forfeiturén this actionthrough four criminal schemes. The present mdon
clarification or partiateconsideration concerns two of these alleged schemes: (1) the PMH/GHP
schemesee Am. Compl.11 4549; and (2) the UESU and ITERA Energgheme, seeid.
1935-44.

In its amended complaint, thénited Statedringseight claimdor relief under
two general categorie€laims One, Two, Three, and Four alletyect forfeiture of criminal
proceeds pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(C), which provides for the direct forfeiture of
proceeds frontheviolation of certain enumerated criminal statutes or “any offense adiggit
‘specified unlawful activity”” as defined by 18 U.S.C. § 1956(c)(Yhesedirect forfeiture
claims allege that the defendant properties constitute or are derived troeegs traceable to
violations of four offenses that are considered “specified unlawful actwitgier 18 U.S.C.
8 1956(c)(7).The threeoffenses for which part of the criminal conduct allegedly occurred in
the United Stateg@ interstate transportation anelceipt of property stolen or taken by fraud, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 2314 and 2315 (Cladng; Hobbs Act extortion, in violation of 18
U.S.C. § 1951 (Claintwo); and wire fraud, including property and honest services fraud, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 1343 and 134&ldim Threg. The two foreign offenses for which
direct forfeiture is alleged and authorized by law are: an offense tagdorggn nation
involving extortion and an offense against a foreign nation involving bribery of a public official
or the misappropriation, theft, or embezzlement of public funds by or for the benefitibia

official. These offenses amnumerated in 18 U.S.C. 8856(c)(7)(B)(ii) and (iv) (Clainfoun).



Claims Five, Six, Seven, and Eight allege forfeiture of property involved in
money laundering violations pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 981(a)(1)(A), which provides for, among
other thingsthe forfeiture of anyeal or personal property involved in or traceable to a violation
of 18 U.S.C. 88 1956 and 1957. These money laundimifegture claims allegehat the
defendant properties were involved in or traceable to money laundering transacattesnpted
money laundering transactions. The violations of mdaeydering law alleged in theenended
complaint include: conduct designed to conceal the nature, location, source, owoership,
control of proceeds of a specified unlawful activity under 18 U.S.C58(a¥1)(B)(i) (Claim
Five); international transportation, transmissiontransfer of proceeds of a specified unlawful
activity under 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1956(a)(2)(B)(i) (ClaBix); engaging in or attempting to engage in
monetary transactions affectimgerstate or foreign commerce with more than $10,000 in
proceeds of a specified unlawful activity under 18 U.S.C. § 1957 (Qairar); and conspiracy
to engage in money laundering under 18 U.S.C. § 1956(h) (Eght). The United States
alleges the sae four predicate offenses occurringoart in the United Statesd the same
foreign extortion predicate as in its direct forfeiture claims as a basisfandghey laundering
claims Foreign official bribery, misappropriation, theft, or embezzlement, as enecherader

18 U.S.C. 8 1956(c)(7)(B)(iv), is not alleged as a basis for the money launderng

B. The Court’s Prior Opinions
In 2005, Mr. Lazarenko moved to dismiss the amended comfiailaick of
subject matter jurisdictionnder Rule 12(b)(1) of the Beral Rules of Civil Proceduand for
failure tostate a claim under Rule 12(b)(6). He argueter alia, thatthe United Statesvas
improperly attempting toeach foreign conduct in a manner not contemplated by the forfeiture

statutes SeeMot. to Dismiss a6-10, 11-16.The Court deniedMr. Lazarenko’anotion to



dismissin an order dated March 29, 20@2eOrderDenying Motion to Dismiss, and an opinion

dated July 9, 2008egUnited States v. All Assets Held at Bank JuliusiB&€o., Ltd., 571 F.

Supp. 2cat9-14, 17. Noting that themended complairisets forth very detailed allegatiaghs
the Court heldinter alia, thateach of the eight clainmet thepleading standarfir in remcivil
forfeitureactions Id. at 17.

In 2015,Mr. Lazarenko moved for partial judgment on the pleaglangd partial
summary judgment. He arguedpart that the claims constitutad impermissible application

of U.S. law to foreign conduct based on Morrison v. National AustBaiek Ltd, 561 U.S. 247

(2010), which announcealnew framework for determining whether a federal statute applies
extraterritorially SeeMot. for Patial J. on the Pleadingslem. atl-2. On April 27, 2017 hie

Court grantedMr. Lazarenko’anotion in part and denietin part SeeUnited States v. All

Assets Held at Bank Julius Baer & Co., Ltd., 251 F. Supp. 3d 82 (D.D.C. 2017). ThdiGburt

construedMr. Lazarenko’smotion as a motion for partial judgment on the pleadings under Rule
12(c) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedufgeeid. at 87-89.1t then set the stage by
describing the proper methodology for determining the extraterritoriet i&fal8 U.S.C.

88 981(a)(1)(A) and (C) after the Supreme Court’s decision in Morrison v. Nationahkais

Bank Ltd Seeid. at89-92. Nextjt discussed the extraterritorial reach of each of the eight
claims brought by the United Statdd. at 92-104. Finally, the Court applied its
extraterritoriality analysis to each of tfaar alleged schemesSeeid. at104-09.

With respect tahe PMH/GHP s£heme the Courheldthatthe United States had
failed to establish a domestic claim feire fraud in violation of 18U.S.C. §1343(Claim
Three) and had not argued thatrly of the claims for relief other than wiradid” apply tathat

scheme.SeeUnited States v. All Assets Held at Bank Julius Baer & Co., Ltd., 251 F. Supp. 3d




at 109. With respect to th&JESU and ITERAEnergyscheme, the Court held that the United
States had failed to allegralid claims for Hobbs Act extortion, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1951
(Claim Two), and wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 13€8&im Three)._Se. at108.

The Court found, howevethat the United States had sufficiently alleg&dms for interstate
transportation and receipt of property stolen or taken by fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 2314
and 2315Claim One) as well as thenoney launderinglaims in violation of 18 U.S.C.

88 1956 and 195(Claims Five through Eight)Seeid. at107-09. As to Claim Four, the Court
heldthat the United States had sufficieralfegeda claim forforeign bribery in violation of 18
U.S.C. 8§ 1956(c)(7)(B)(iv).Seeid. at 107-09. The Court did ngpecificallyaddress the other
predicate offense alleged as a basis for Claim Fdareign extortion under 18 U.S.C.

8§ 1956(c)(7)(B)(ii).

In May 2017, he United Statefiled the instant motioffor clarification or partial
reconsideration of the Court’s April 2017 opinion. The United States does not dispute the
Court’'slegal analysisegarding whichederalstautes apply extraterritoriallyRather, the
United Statesaisestwo narrowobjectionsto the Court’s characterization of the claiasserted
in relation to twoof theschemed hasalleged in the amended complaifdirst, itargueghatthe
Courterred bydismissng the PMH/GHPscheman its entiretybecause th&nited Stateslid in
factasseriClaims One and Four through Eight in connection it scheme SeeMot. for
ReconsMem. at4-7. Secondt asks the Court to clarify that foreign extortion, as set forth in 18
U.S.C. § 1956(c)(7)(B)(ii), constitutes a basisforfeiturein Claims Four through Eightvith
respect to the UESU and ITERA Energy schenseid. at7-9. Mr. Lazarenkaesponds that
the United Statedas waived thesarguments and, in any event, the Court didemoby

dismissing the claimsSeeOpp’n to Mot. for Reconsat 1-2.



II. MOTION FORCLARIFICATION OR PARTIAL RECONSIDERATION
AS TO THE PMH/GHP SCHEM

TheUnited States has styled its motion as a mdworlarification or partial
reconsideration pursuant to Rule 59(e) of the Federal Rules of Civil ProcedulereSpict to
thePMH/GHP scheme, th€ourt will construehe notion as one for partial reconsideration
pursuant to Rule 54(b), which governs reconsideration of interlocutory oi8eeseD. R. Civ.

P.54(b); Powell v. Castaneda, 247 F.R.D. 179, 181 (D.D.C. 2007) (hdlthbipe standardor

reconsideratio of final judgments under Rule 59@@jfers from the standard foeconsideration

of interlocutoryordersunder Rule 54(b)Wniv. of Colo. Health at Mem’l Hosp. v. Burwell, 164

F. Supp. 3d 56, 61-62 (D.D.C. 2016) (construing mokorclarification as motion for
reconsideratiomvhere the ourtwas asked toeverse its prior determination rather tharlarify

ambiguous or vague portions of its opinion).

A. Motion for Partial Reconsideration Under Rule 54(b)
The Federal Rulesf Civil Procedure do not specifically address motions for

reconsiderationSeeEstate of Klieman v. Palestinian Auth., 82 F. Supp. 3d 237, 241-42 (D.D.C.

2015). “While the most analogous rule is Rule 60, which provides relief from a final jatigme
or order, motions to reconsider interlocutory orders are not governed by Rule 60(bhdnit ra
such determinations ‘are within the discretion of the trial coutt:"at 242 (quotindceystone

Tobacco Co. v. U.S. Tobacco Co., 217 F.R.D. 235, 237 (D.D.C)R@@2alsoFeD. R.Civ.

P.54(b) (“[A]lny order or other decision, however designated, that adjudicates fewer than all the
claims or the rights and liabilities of fewer than all the parties . . . may bedeatisay time
before the entry of a judgment adjudicating all the claims and all the partigs’ aiggh

liabilities.”); Langevine v. District of Columbia, 106 F.3d 1018, 1023 (D.C. Cir. 1997)




(“Interlocutory orders are not subject to the law of the case doctrine andwazaxg be
reconstlered prior to final judgment(titations omitted)).

This judicial discretion is broad. While the judicial interest in finality disfavors
reconsideration, a district court has inherent authority to reconsideteriocutory orders “as

justice requires.”"SeeWannall v. Honeywell Int’l, Inc., 292 F.R.D. 26, 30-31 (D.D.C. 2013),

aff'd sub nomWannall v. Honeywell, In¢.775 F.3d 425 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (citations omitted).

Although the “as justice requires” standard may be imprecise, it is at leaghelearcourt has
“more flexibility in applying Rule 5@) than in determining whether reconsideration is
appropriate under Rules 59(e) and 60(I8€&eid. at 30, 32 (internal quotations and citation
omitted).

To determine whether justice requires reconsideration of an interlocutory
decision, courts look to whether the moving party has demonstrated “(1) an interciesunug

in the law; (2) the discovery of new evidence not previously available; or (Baaeastor in the

first order” Klayman v. Judicial Watch, IndNo. 060670, 2018 WL 953327, aB8%D.D.C.
Feb. 20, 2018) (citation omitted). Even where none of these three factors is prasgdDguit
may nevertheless elect to grant a motion for reconsideration if there argatdereasons for

doing so.” _Cobell v. Norton, 355 F. Supp. 2d 531, 540 (D.D.C. 208&) example, justice may

require revision where “the Court has patently misunderstood a party, has madsoa deci
outside the adversarial issues presented to the Court by the parties, [orpbeammearor not of

reasoning but of apprehension . . SéeSingh v. George Washington Univ., 383 F. Supp. 2d

99, 101 (D.D.C. 2005) (internal quotations and citation omitsbalsoStewart v. FCC189 F.

Supp. 3d 170, 173 (D.D.C. 2016); Wultz v. Islamic Republic of Iran, 762 F. Supp. 2d 18, 23-24

(D.D.C. 2011) Powell v. Castaneda, 247 F.R.D. at 181.




The efficient administration of justice requires, however, that there be good
reason for a court to reconsider an issue already litigated by the parties: ‘4§Wjgants have
once battledor the court’s decision, they should neither be required, nor without good reason

permitted, to battle for it again.Isse v. American Uniy544 F. Supp. 2d 25, 30 (D.D.C. 2008)

(quoting_Singh v. George Washington Univ., 383 F. Supp. 2d at 101). Mdtion

reconsideration “cannot be used as an opportunity to reargue facts and theories upon which a
court has already ruled, nor as a vehicle for presenting theories or argtiméctld have

been advanced earlierKlayman v. Judicial Watch, Inc., 2018 WL 953327, &t(¢itation

omitted). Ultimatelythe moving party has the burden to demonstrate “that reconsideration is
appropriate and that harm or injustice would result if reconsideration were deRBREIE Bank

Ltd. v. Mnuchin, 249 F. Supp. 3d 215, 222 (D.D.C. 2017) (quoting U.S. ex rel. Westrick v.

Second Chance Body Armor, Inc., 893 F. Supp. 2d 258, 268 (D.D.C. 26d4&3lsolsse v.

American Univ, 544 F. Supp. 2d at 29.

B. Partial Reconsideration is Warranted as to BidH/GHP Scheme
With respect to theMH/GHP schemgthe Court held in its prior opinion thidie
United States had netifficiently allegeda wire fraud violation under 18 U.S.C. § 13€3aim
Three) and had not argued thay of the claims for relief other than wire fraud” applyhs

scheme.SeeUnited States v. All Assets Held at Bank Julius Baer & Co., Ltd., 251 F. Supp. 3d

at 109. The United States contends that the Court’s conclusion warrants reconsideratsm be
the United Statedid in fact assertlaims of other statutory violations in addition to wire fraud
connection with the schem&eeMot. for Recons. Menmat4-7. TheUnited States
acknowledges that in its memorandum opposing Mr. Lazarenko’s motion for partiagntgn

the pleadings, iliscusseanly wire fraud Claim Thre¢ in thesection addressinfe



PMH/GHP schemeSeeid. at6-7. In doing so, howevehe United States maintains that it did
not concede or withdrawts other claims relating to this schentgeeid. Mr. Lazarenko
respondghat the United States waived ésgumenby failing todiscuss Claims One and Four
through Eightwvith respect tahis scheme in itepposition memoranduneeOpp’n to Mot. for
Recons. at-P.

TheUnited States frames tli&ourt’s prior determinatioasa“clear errot
warranting reconsideration.e8Reply to Mot. for Recons. at 2. In this case, howevemibre
appropriate grountbr reconsideratiomnder Rule 54(bis whetherthe Court'patently
misunderstoodthe breadth and full scope of taggumentsaisedin opposition to Mr.

Lazarenko’s motion for partial judgment on the pleadirfggseWultz v. Islamic Republic of

Iran, 762 F. Supp. 2dt23-24 (granting reconsideratiovhere the courtpatently misunderstood
the thrust of [a party’s] jurisdictional argumeiatrid failed to analyze relevant case law as a

resul); seealsoSingh v. George Washington Univ., 383 F. Supp. 2d at 101. For the reasons th

follow, the Court concludes in its discretion that reconsideration is warranted gnounnl.
First,upon careful review of the amended complaint, it appears that the United

Statedlid assertClaims One and Four through Eightrelation to thd®MH/GHP scheme

though notlearly. Foreach of the eight clainfer relief set forthin the amended complaint, the

United Statesrepeats and realleges each and eafiggation set forthin thepreceding

paragraphs of themended complaintpcluding the PMH/GHP allegations.e&Am. Compl.

19120, 125, 130, 135, 140, 144, 148, 1RB&cause each claim incorporates the PMH/GHP

allegations, it follows thatlaims One and Four through Eight apfythisscheme.These

claims are for interstate transportation and receipt of property stolerearigéraud (Claim

One);foreign extortion andoreign bribery (Claim Four)hree different statutory money

10



laundering violations (Claims Five through Seven); and conspiracy to money laGtader (
Eight).

Secondbpecausehe United Statedid not identify which claims apply tihe
PMH/GHP schemether than wire fraud (Claim Threm) its memorandum opposing Mr.
Lazarenko’s motion for partial judgment on the pleadinggOpp’n to Mot. forPartialJ. on the
Pleadings ab5-56, heclaims were not framed in the pree terms now before the Coutthe
Court nevertheless agrees with the United States thatusing only on Claim Threéhe
United Stateslid not concede or withdraw its other claims in connection thithscheme
Indeed, the argumendgainst dismissal of Claims One and Ftiwough Eighset forth
elsewhere in the opposition memorandum appear to agpigilyto the PMH/GHP allegations
Seeid. at 12-18, 29-48. Becausehe Court appears to have “patently misunderstéalty/ the
arguments raised in thénited Statesbpposition memorandum and dismissed the PMH/GHP
scheme as a resyjtistice requires that the Court revisit its conclusion

The Court now turns to the merits of the motion for reconsideration: has the
United States sufficientlglleged Claim®©neand Four through Eight with respect to the
PMH/GHP schemé&o defeat a motion for partial judgment on the pleadings under Ruleat2(c)
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedurd@he Courthaspreviouslyheldthatthese samelaims

meetthe pleading standard for remcivil forfeiture actions.SeeUnited States v. All Assets

Held at Bank Julius Baer & Co., Ltd., 571 F. Suppatl7. As to whethethese claims

constitute a impermissibleapplication of U.S. law to foreign conduct, the amended complaint

allegeselectronic fund transfersiEFTS) and wire transfersr connection with thischeme._See

2 For the same reasons, the United States has not waived its arguments in support of
reconsideration as to the PMH/GHP scheme. (3g#n to Mot. for Recons. at 2-3.

11



Am. Compl. 926, 50(d), 58, 88, 107-08n its April 2017 opinion, the Court concluded that
EFTsand other alleged wire transfers are sufficient to allege interstate treatgpoand receipt

of property stolen or taken by fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 88§ 2314 and 2315 (Claim One),
and foreign extortion anireignbribery, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 1956(c)(7)(B)(ii) aid)

(Claim Four) SeeUnited States v. All Assets Held at Bank Julius Baer & Co., Ltd., 251 F.

Supp. 3d at 92-104. The Court also concluded that BR@svire transfersonstitute activity
that“occusin part in the United State$dr purposes of the extraterritorial provision of 18
U.S.C. § 1956(f) and “takes place” in the United States for purposes of 18 U.S.C. § 1957(d)(1).
Seeid. These allegatitstherefore are sufficient to allegige money laundering claims in
violation of 18 U.S.C 88 1956nd1957 (Claims Five through EightSeeid.

Upon reconsideration, the Court holds that the allegations in the amended
complaint are sufficient to allege the following claims for relief in connectiontivéh
PMH/GHP schemeinterstate transportation and receipt of property stolen or taken by fraud, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 2314 and 23@@aim Ong; foreignextortionandforeignbribery,
misappropriationtheft, or embezzlement, in violation of 18 U.S.C. B356(c)(7)(B)(ii) and (iv)
(Claim Four) and the money laundering claims in violation of 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1956 and 1957

(Claims Five thragh Eight)?

3 Mr. Lazarenko argues that thenended complaint fails sufficiently allege a
violation of foreign law or a subsequent transfer of furBseOpp’'n to Mot. for Recons. at 4-5;
seealsoid. at 34 n.1. This argument is not relevant to the present motion for reconsideration, as
it challenges the sufficiency of the claims feasons unrelated to tbgtraterritorial reaclf the
statutes Mr. Lazarenkawill not be permittedo use the United States’ motion for
reconsideration as an opportunity tditerate the merits of his motion to dismiss, which the
Court denied over ten years adgeeeKlayman v. Judicial Watch, Inc2018 WL 953327, at *3
(holding that motions for reconsideration “cannot be used as an opportunity to reargaadact
theories upon which a court has already ruled, nor as a vehicle for presentirgstbeori
arguments thatauld have been advanced earlier”) (citatonitted).

12



lII. MOTION FOR CLARIFICATION OR PARTIAL RECONSIDERATION
AS TO THE UESU AND ITERA ENERGY SCHEME

TheUnited States asks the Court to clamfigetherforeign extortionasset forth
in 18 U.S.C. 8 1956(c)(7)(B)(ii), constitutes a bdsidorfeiture in Claim Four and a predicate
offensefor the money laundering claims, as set forth in 18 U.S.C. 88 1956 and 1957 (Claims
Five through Eight), with respect to the UESU and ITERA Energy scheles.for Recons.
Mem. at 79. The Court conates this portion of the pendinghotionas a motion for
clarification, given thathe United States has identifiéga@inguagen the Court’s earlier opinion
that it contendss ambiguous or vaguaith respect tahe foreign extortiomllegationgelatingto

this scheme See e.q, United States v. Philip Morris USAnc., 793 F. Supp. 2d 164, 168

(D.D.C. 2011)X“The general purpose of a motion for clarification is to explain or clarify

something ambiguous or vague, not to alter or amg(atationomitted);Int’| Rectifier Corp.

v. Samsundtlecs.Co. Ltd, 361 F.3d 1355, 1359-62 (Fegir. 2004)(holding that the district

court abused its discretion by refusing to grant a “motion to clarify, #acamodify”its
injunctionwhere that court haichpermissiblyexpanded the scope of the injunction to reach

certainextraterritorial activities

A. Motion for Clarification
There is no Federal Rule of Civil Procedure specifically govemmiatons for

clarification. SeeUnited States v. Philip Mag USA, Inc, 793 F. Supp. 2dt168. “The

general purpose of a motion for clarification is to explain or clarify somg#mmbiguous or
vague not to alter or amend.”_ldcitation omitted) Although such a motion cannot open the

door to “refitigat[ing] a matter that the court has considered and deci@&d V. Transp. Sec.

Admin., No. 14-403, 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 192323, at *7-8 (D.D.C. Aug. 19, 2@it&}ion

13



omitted), courts in this circuit have encouraged parties to file motions for @aoifiavhen they

are uncedin about the scope of a rulingeedJnited States v. Volvo Powertrain Corp., 758 F.3d

330, 344 (D.C. Cir. 2014Barnes v. Districbf Columbia, 289 F.R.D. 1, 12-13 (D.D.C. 2012).

Entertaining such motions seems especiallydent if the parties must implement the ruling at

issue at subsequent stages of the litigat®eeAlliance of Artists & RecordingCos., Inc. v.

Gen. Motors Co., No. 14-1271, 2016 WL 9963947, at *4 (D.D.C. Aug. 22, 2016).

B. Foreign Extortion as a Basier Forfeiture With Respect to
the UESU and ITERANnergySchemes

In its April 2017 opinion the Courtheldthat the allegations concerning UESU
and ITERA were sufficient to sustain a claim for refaf inter alia, foreign bribery under 18

U.S.C. 81956(c)(7)(B)(iv) (Claim Four)SeeUnited States v. All Assets Held at Bank Julius

Baer & Co., Ltd. 251 F. Supp. 3d at 107-0% describing Claim Fouwith respect to this

schemehowever, the Coudmitted reference to the other predicate alleged in the amended
complaint as a basis for Claim Feuforeign extortiorunder 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1956(c)(B))(ii). See
id. The United States assettst, based on this omission, the Court’s opinion could be read to
preclude foreign extortion as a basis for forfeiture with respect tdE%J) and ITERAEnergy
schems. SeeMot. for Recons. Memat 79.

The Courtagreeswith the United States that clarification is warranted. Claim
Four includes two foreign offensesr offense agaihs foragn nation involving extortion
under 18 U.S.C. 8956(c)(7)(B)(ii) and an offense against a foreign natimmrolving bribery of
a public officialor themisappropriation, theft, or embezzlement of public funds by or ér th
benefit of a public official under 18 U.S.C1856(c)(7)(B)(iv) In the portion of its opinion

addressinghe UESU and ITERAllegationsthe Court focused on foreign bribery, concluding
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thatthe United States had $ofently alleged doreign briberyviolation under 18 U.S.C.
81956(c)(7)(B)(iv) Seeid. at 107-09. The Court inadvertentignittedreference to foreign
extortion and this omission may be read to exclude foreign extortion as a bdsisdurein
relationto these schemeawthoutexplanation It may also be read as inconsistent with the order
accompanying the opinion which references both Section 1956(c)(7)(B)(ii) ahdrSe
1956(c)(7)(B)(iv) in denying Mr. Lazarenko’s moii with respect to Claim FouSeeOrder
Granting in Part and Dgmg in PartMotion for Partial Judgmermn the Pleadings at Z'he
Court’s prior opinion thusvarrantsclarificationbecausét is reasonably susceptible to differing
interpretation®s to whetheforeign extortiorremainsa basis for forfeiturevith respect to the

UESU and ITERAallegations Seg e.qg, Allianceof Artists & RecordingCos., Inc. v. Gen.

Motors Co., 2016 WL 9963947, at *4 (granting motion for clarification where the court’s prior
opinion was “reasonably susceptible to differing interpretatiomgarding partitioned hard
driveg.*

The Court nowclarifiesthatforeign extortion, as set forth in 18 U.S.C.
81956(c)(7)(B)(ii), comstitutes a basis for forfeitukeith respect tahe UESU and ITERA
Energyschems. The Courhaspreviouslyheld that Clails Fourthrough Eighimeetthe

pleading standard fan remcivil forfeiture actions SeeUnited States v. All Assets Held at

Bank Julius Baer & Co., Ltd., 571 F. Supp. 2d at 17. As to wh#théoreign extortiorclaims

constitute a impermissible application of U.S. law to foreign conduct, the amended complaint
allegegthat the proceeds tiie UESU and ITERA Energschems were transferred through

EFTs. SeeAm. Compl. 11 38-40, 43-44. In its April 2017 opinion, the Court heldBRas

4 For the same reasons, the United States has not waived its arguments in support of

clarification as to the UESU and ITERA Energy schemes. Gpgen to Mot. for Recons. at 2-3,
6.
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constitute activity thatoccursin part in the United States” for purposes of the extraterritorial
provision of 18 U.S.C. § 1956(&nd “takes place” in the United States fargoses of 18 U.S.C.

8 1957(d)(). SeeUnited States v. All Assets Held at Bank Julius Baer & Co., Ltd., 251 F. Supp.

3d at 92-104.These allegationtherefore arsufficient toallege foreign extortion arfdreign
bribery, in violation of 18 U.S.C. £956(c)(7)(B)(ii)and(iv) (Claim Four) as well athe money
launderingclaimsin violation of 18 U.S.C 88 195&6nd1957 (Claims Five through Eight).
The Court therefore clarifies that the allegations with respect tdE$tJ) and
ITERA Energyschems are sifficient toallege inter alia, claims forforeign extortion in
violation of 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1956(c)(7)(ii) (Claim Four), as well as money launderirgl loas

foreign extortion under 18 U.S.C. 88 1956 and 1957 (Claims Five though Eight).

IV. CONCLUSION
For the reasons set forth in this Opinion, the Cwilttgrantthe notion [Dkt. No.
97( of the United Statefor clarification or partial econsideration of the Court’s opinion of
April 27, 2017. As to th€ MH/GHP £heme, the Court concludes upon reconsideration that the
allegations in the amended complaint are sufficient to allege the following claimeiéd:
interstate transportation and receipt of property stolen or taken by fraud, tioni@fl8 U.S.C.

88 2314 and 231&laim One);foreignextortion and foreign bribery, misappropriation, theft, or

5 The parties dispute whether allegations sufficient to plead a claim ferypabe

also sufficient to plead a claim for extortioBeeMot. for Recons. Mem. at 8-9; Opp’n to Mot.
for Recons. at 7-9; Reply to Mot. for Recons. at 8@&cause the amended complaint
sufficiently pleads a claim for foreign extortion, the Court need not addreskgpige. In
addition, as to Mr. Lazarenko’s contention that “there is no allegation that [Mr.jdrdaa
demanded or threatened anyonexohange for these payments,” Opp’n to Mot. for Recons. at
9, the Court will not consider arguments challenging the sufficiency ofnitedJStates’ claims
for reasons other than their extraterritorial reiactine context of the present motio8eesupra

at 12n.3.
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embezzlement, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 1956(c)(A)(Band (iv) (Claim Four); and the
money laundering claims violation of 18 U.S.C. 88 1956 and 1957 (Claims Five through
Eight). Asto theUSEU and ITERAEnergy sheme, the Court clarifieshatthe allegations in
the amended complaiate sufficient tallege inter alia, the following claims for relief:foreign
extortion in violation of 18 U.S.C. £356(c)(7)(ii) (Claim Four); anthoney laundering based on
foreign extortion under 18 U.S.C. 88 1956 and 1957 (Claims Five though EighQrder
consistent with this Opinion will issue this same day.

SO ORDERED.

Is/
PAUL L. FRIEDMAN
UnitedStates District Judge

DATE: April 23, 2018
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